
Board of Directors 
September 28, 2023 | 4:00 p.m. – 6:00 p.m. 

 
 

  

Onsite: 
Greater Portland Transit District 

114 Valley Street, Portland, ME 04102 | Administration Conference Room 
 

Remote: 
Please click the link below to join the webinar: 

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/83603569172?pwd=TWF1NDJsSVpqSExxTkJldFB5aHhpUT09 
Passcode: 595806 | Webinar ID: 836 0356 9172 

    Phone: (646) 558-8656| Telephone participants: *9 to raise hand, *6 to unmute 
 

AGENDA 
 

AGENDA ITEM PRESENTER 
ACTION or 

INFORMATION 

1. Call Meeting to Order (4:00) 
Michael Foley, 
Board President 

N/A 

2. Public Comment (4:00-4:05) 

The  board welcomes public comments at this time for items not listed 
on this agenda at this time. For items listed on the agenda, the chair 
will allow members of the public to comment following the staff 
presentation. There is a three-minute time limit per speaker.  

Michael Foley, 
Board President 

Information 

3. Approval of Meeting Minutes (4:00-4:05) 

Consider approval of the meeting minutes from the June 22, 2023 
board meeting.  

Michael Foley, 
Board President 

ACTION 

4. Executive Director’s Report (4:05-4:15) 

Information and updates pertaining to agency operations, service 
performance, major projects and programs, and related issues.   

Greg Jordan, 
Executive Director 

Information 

5. Proposed Fare Policy Change (4:15-4:25) 

Consider approval to re-introduce the 10-ride pass as a fare payment 
option for Dirigo smart card and mobile app users.  

Mike Tremblay, 
Transit Dev. 
Director 

ACTION 

6. Agreement with University of Maine System (4:25-4:35) 

Consider approval of an agreement with the University of Maine 
System for the provision of a transit pass program with University of 
Southern Maine and University of Maine Law School as well as direct 
operating funding for the Husky Line.  

 

 

 

Greg Jordan, 
Executive Director 

ACTION 

  

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/83603569172?pwd=TWF1NDJsSVpqSExxTkJldFB5aHhpUT09


 
 

2 
 

7. Executive Session – Collective Bargaining Agreement (4:35-4:45) 

Consider approval of proposed tentative agreements with ATU Local 
714 for the incorporation of three (3) job classes (comprising 7 
employees) into the existing Collective Bargaining Agreement. 

The board may elect to discuss this item in executive session pursuant 
to 1 MRSA Section 405 (6) (D). Any action must be taken in public 
session.  

Glenn Fenton, 
Chief 
Transportation 
Officer 

 

 

ACTION 

8. Metro Strategic Planning Process (4:45-5:45) 

Staff will present proposed final drafts of mission, vision and values 
statements based on discussions held at previous workshops.  

Greg Jordan, 
Executive Director 

ACTION 

9. Future Agenda Items (5:45-6:00) 

• Preliminary 2024 Operating-Capital Budgets (Oct) 

• Gorham-Westbrook-Portland Rapid Transit Project (Oct) 

• Strategic Plannning: Service Development-Finance Planning 
(Oct-Nov) 

• Strategic Planning: Goals-Objectives Workshops (Nov-Dec) 

• Agency-Board Policies Review and Reorganization (Jan-Feb) 

• Collective Bargaining Agreement renewal (Jan-Feb) 
 

Greg Jordan, 
Executive Director 

Information 

10. Upcoming Meetings (5:45-6:00) 

• Finance Committee – October 4, 2023 at 4:00 p.m. 

• Executive Commitee – October 11, 2023 at 3:30 p.m. 

• Ridership Committee – October 18, 2023 at 4:00 p.m. 

• Board of Directors – October 26, 2023 at 4:00 p.m.  

Michael Foley, 
Board President 

Information 

11. Adjournment (6:00) Michael Foley, 
Board President 

ACTION 

 

As of November 9, 2022 Greater Portland METRO is holding meetings of the Board of Directors (and 
its committees) in hybrid format, both in person at METRO’s offices and via webinar. The remote 
portions of all meetings are conducted in accordance with the requirements of METRO’s Remote 
Participation Policy (adopted August 25, 2022) as well as LD 1772, PL 2022 Ch. 666, and 1 MRSA 
Chapter 13, Subchapter 1. 
 
 

https://gpmetro.org/DocumentCenter/View/1424
https://gpmetro.org/DocumentCenter/View/1424


 

1 

  

 

 
Board of Directors Meeting 
June 22, 2023 at 4:00 p.m. 
DRAFT Meeting Minutes 

 
Municipality Representative Title Attendance 
Brunswick Ryan Leighton Asst. Town Manager Present 
Falmouth Merrill Barter Community Member Present 
Falmouth Hope Cahan Town Council Member Present 
Freeport Bill Rixon Community Member Not Present 
Portland Pious Ali City Council Member Not Present 
Portland Paul Bradbury Jetport Director Present 
Portland Jeff Levine Community Member Present 
Portland Ed Suslovic Community Member Present 
Portland Andrew Zarro City Council Member Present 
Westbrook Mike Foley Mayor Present 
Westbrook John Thompson Community Member Present 
Westbrook Prosper Lohomboli DEI Administrator Present 
Yarmouth Nat Tupper Town Manager Present 

 
Staff Present Identified Members of the Public 
Greg Jordan, Executive Director Kristina Egan, GPCOG 
Glenn Fenton, Chief Transportation Officer  
Mike Tremblay, Director of Transit Dev. 
Shelly Brooks, Chief Financial Officer 

 

 
Attendance roll call taken by Mike Tremblay, Director of Transit Development.     
        
1. With a quorum in place, the meeting was called to order at 4:02 p.m. by Mike Foley, Board President.  
 
2. Public comment:  No members of the public were present. 
 
3. Approval of April 27, 2023 Meeting Minutes 

John Thompson made a motion to approve the April 27, 2023 meeting minutes. Ed Suslovic seconded the 
motion. After a roll call vote of the members present, the minutes were unanimously approved by all members 
present. 

 
4. 2022 Financial Audit 

Shelly Brooks (Chief Financial Officer) provided a brief overview of the 2022 Financial Audit. Members of the 
board expressed thanks and appreciation to Shelly and the finance team for their great work.  
 
Paul Bradbury made a motion to accept the audit. Ed Suslovic seconded the motion. After a roll call vote of the 
members present, the motion was unanimously approved by all members present. 

 
5. Standard Transit Pass Program 

Greg Jordan (Executive Director) presented information and a recommendation to allow staff to implement 
new transit pass programs based on a standardized, board approved, template. Jeff Levine expressed support 
for this but suggested that staff routinely communicate to the board on new pass programs and any variation 
on terms.  

 

 



 

2 

  

 
John Thompson made a motion to approve the recommendation. Ed Suslovic seconded the motion. After a roll 
call vote of the members present, the motion was unanimously approved by all members present. 

 
6. Approval of Service Improvements and 2023 Budget Amendment 

Mike Tremblay (Director of Transit Development) provided an overview of the Transit Together study 
recommendations along with the proposed implementation phasing based American Rescue Plan Act (ARPA) 
funding availability. Nat Tupper asked what the plan will be transition from the start-up ARPA funding to 
sustainable funding after year 3.  Greg Jordan responded, that staff will be working with the board and member 
municipalities to evaluate service improvements to determine which elements should continue after the start-
up phase, and develop the necessary suite of federal, state and local funding that will be needed.  
 
Ed Suslovic made a motion to approve the recommendation. Jeff Levine seconded the motion. After a roll call 
vote of the members present, the motion was unanimously approved by all members present. 

 
7. Purchase of Passenger Van 

Glenn Fenton (Chief Transportation Officer) provided a summary of staff’s proposed plan to purchase a 
passenger van to be used for transporting Bus Operators from base to the standard relief point on Elm Street 
in Portland.  
 
Paul Bradbury made a motion to approve the recommendation. John Thompson seconded the motion. After a 
roll call vote of the members present, the motion was unanimously approved by all members present. 
 

8. Strategic Plan Workshop 
GPCOG Executive Director, Kristina Egan led the board and staff through a facilitated discussion to develop the 
foundation for updated statement of mission, vision and values. Major themes expressed by board members 
along with draft statements of mission, vision and values will be presented as part of the August 24, 2023 board 
workshop. 
 

9. Future Agenda Items 
No additional future agenda items were added. 
 

10. Upcoming meetings 
These are upcoming meetings as presently scheduled: 

• Executive Committee – August 9, 2023 at 3:30 p.m. 

• Finance Committee – August 16, 2023 at 4:00 p.m. 

• Ridership Committee – TBD 

• Board of Directors – August 24, 2023 at 4:00 p.m. 
 

11. Adjournment 
Following a motion by Merrill Barter to adjourn the meeting, and a second by Paul Bradbury, Mike Foley 
adjouned the meeting at 6:13 p.m. 
 



 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS AGENDA ITEM 5   
 

 

 
DATE  
September 26, 2023 

 
SUBJECT 
Fare Policy Update  
 
PURPOSE 
Consider approval to re-introduce the 10-ride pass as a fare payment option for Dirigo smart 
card and mobile app users. 
 
BACKGROUND/ANALYSIS 
Since the introduction of the DiriGo pass and the sunsetting of paper ticketing, Metro, South 
Portland Bus Service (SPBS), and Biddeford Saco Old Orchard Beach Transit (BSOOB) have lacked 
a way for customers to pay for multiple using a cashless payment method. Because pass-backs are 
not allowed due to our fare capping system, someone boarding with a guest or a family member 
who does not have their own DiriGo account must use cash to pay for the additional members of 
the group. This can be exacerbated by our exact change policy. Metro staff have received 
numerous complaints about the inability to easily board with a group of people since 2020. 
 
Metro, SPBS, and BSOOB have agreed in principle to bring back a version of the 10-ride pass, which 
was offered prior to rollout of the DiriGo Pass. This 10-ride pass would enable pass-backs for 
groups of people while also facilitating free transfers. The 10-ride pass would likely be sold at a 
10% discount ($18 for a full-fare, 10-ride pass, a $20 value). Reduced fare passes will likely also be 
provided, though some logistical challenges regarding enforcement of the reduced fare will need 
to be clarified.  Like the standard DiriGo pass, it would be applicable across all three DiriGo 
agencies. 
 
Adoption of a 10-ride pass is expected to improve ridership. For some users, purchasing rides is 
more intuitive than stored value. For passengers who routinely travel in groups, such as families 
with children, a 10-ride pass may make transit a viable option. 
 

FISCAL IMPACT 
The fiscal impact of a 10-ride pass will depend on several factors, including how much passengers 
shift to the 10-ride pass from cash (the payment method with the highest average fare, due to the 
lack of transfer and fare capping discounts) and from the standard DiriGo pass. Some infrequent 
riders may benefit from the 10-ride pass’s discount more than they benefit from fare capping. To 
the extent that the 10-ride pass increases ridership, it may result in increased fare revenue.   
 

 



 
 

2 
 

A sensitivity analysis is provided in Attachment A. Realistic assumptions for existing passenger 
behavior change and ridership generation result in a net fare revenue that is close to zero. Extreme 
changes, such as a mass adoption of the 10-ride pass over stored value combined with no 
significant ridership generation, may result in reduced revenue in the range of 2-3%, but this is 
unlikely. All of this assumes passengers act in their own best interest, e.g. using all trips purchased, 
utilizing fare capping when it makes more sense than the 10-ride pass, reduced-fare eligible 
passengers using a reduced-fare pass, etc.  
 
A heavy adoption rate of the 10-ride pass by users currently paying cash, or buying single-ride 
tokens at our Customer Service office, may be beneficial to Metro despite resulting in slightly 
lower fare revenue. Shifting from cash to a cashless payment reduces boarding times and reduces 
the cash volume that needs to be counted by hand. Shifting away from heavy use of single-ride 
tokens purchased at Metro Pulse will reduce the burden on Customer Service staff, freeing up 
time to fulfill other duties.  
 
PRIOR COMMITTEE ACTION 
Ridership Committee – August 16, 2023: Unanimous vote to recommend approval by Board of 
Directors.   
 
RECOMMENDATION 
Approve re-introduction of the 10-ride pass as a fare payment option for Dirigo smart card and 
mobile app users. 
 
CONTACT 
Mike Tremblay 
Director of Transit Development 
207-517-3023 
mtremblay@gpmetro.org 
 
ATTACHMENTS 
Attachment A: 10-Ride Pass Sensitivity Analysis 
 
 
 

mailto:mtremblay@gpmetro.org


Ten-Ride Pass

Sensitivity Analysis - Baseline Ridership Committee - 8/2023 Agenda Item 7 Attachment B.1

Passenger Behavior Change % Change

Cash Payers Switching to 10-Ride 5%

Non-Fare Capping DiriGo users to 10-Ride 20% September 2022 % of Annual Ridership

New Ridership Generated 1% 10%

Cash Payers Switching to 10-Ride Percentage Trips Old Avg Fare Transfer % New Avg Fare Revenue Change Annualized

Reduced 5% 562 1.00$                 22% 0.78$                     ($123.63) ($1,236.29)

Full 5% 1019 2.00$                 15% 1.70$                     ($305.67) ($3,056.70)

Reduced - Express 5% 27 2.00$                 9% 1.82$                     ($4.91) ($49.05)

Full - Express 5% 66 4.00$                 4% 3.84$                     ($10.50) ($104.96)

Non-Fare Capping DiriGo users to 10-Ride Percentage Trips Old Avg Fare Transfer % New Avg Fare Revenue Change Annualized

Reduced 20% 2376 0.59$                 0.53$                     ($140.75) ($1,407.48)

Full 20% 5720 1.49$                 1.34$                     ($853.43) ($8,534.30)

Reduced - Express 20% 55 1.68$                 1.51$                     ($9.22) ($92.16)

Full - Express 20% 318 3.71$                 3.34$                     ($118.09) ($1,180.95)

Ridership Generated % of existing New Trips Transfer % Average Fare Revenue Change Annualized

Reduced 1% 259 22% 0.70$                     181.57$                         1,815.65$       

Full 1% 524 15% 1.53$                     801.35$                         8,013.53$       

Reduced - Express 1% 8 9% 1.64$                     13.78$                           137.76$          

Full - Express 1% 30 4% 3.46$                     102.33$                         1,023.32$       

Monthly Net Revenue ($467.16)

Annualized Net Revenue ($4,671.63)

Revenue Change -0.26%

Same as existing



Ten-Ride Pass Ridership Committee - 8/2023 Agenda Item 7 Attachment B.2

Sensitivity Analysis - Heavy adoption, no ridership generation

Passenger Behavior Change % Change

Cash Payers Switching to 10-Ride 20%

Non-Fare Capping DiriGo users to 10-Ride 50% September 2022 % of Annual Ridership

New Ridership Generated 0% 10%

Cash Payers Switching to 10-Ride Percentage Trips Old Avg Fare Transfer % New Avg Fare Revenue Change Annualized

Reduced 20% 2248 1.00$                 22% 0.78$                     ($494.52) ($4,945.16)

Full 20% 4076 2.00$                 15% 1.70$                     ($1,222.68) ($12,226.80)

Reduced - Express 20% 109 2.00$                 9% 1.82$                     ($19.62) ($196.20)

Full - Express 20% 262 4.00$                 4% 3.84$                     ($41.98) ($419.84)

Non-Fare Capping DiriGo users to 10-Ride Percentage Trips Old Avg Fare Transfer % New Avg Fare Revenue Change Annualized

Reduced 50% 5941 0.59$                 0.53$                     ($351.87) ($3,518.70)

Full 50% 14301 1.49$                 1.34$                     ($2,133.57) ($21,335.74)

Reduced - Express 50% 138 1.68$                 1.51$                     ($23.04) ($230.41)

Full - Express 50% 796 3.71$                 3.34$                     ($295.24) ($2,952.37)

Ridership Generated % of existing New Trips Transfer % Average Fare Revenue Change Annualized

Reduced 0% 0 22% 0.70$                     -$                               -$                

Full 0% 0 15% 1.53$                     -$                               -$                

Reduced - Express 0% 0 9% 1.64$                     -$                               -$                

Full - Express 0% 0 4% 3.46$                     -$                               -$                

Monthly Net Revenue ($4,582.52)

Annualized Net Revenue ($45,825.22)

Revenue Change -2.53%

Same as existing



Ten-Ride Pass Ridership Committee - 8/2023 Agenda Item 7 Attachment B.3

Sensitivity Analysis - High Ridership Generation

Passenger Behavior Change % Change

Cash Payers Switching to 10-Ride 2%

Non-Fare Capping DiriGo users to 10-Ride 10% September 2022 % of Annual Ridership

New Ridership Generated 2% 10%

Cash Payers Switching to 10-Ride Percentage Trips Old Avg Fare Transfer % New Avg Fare Revenue Change Annualized

Reduced 2% 225 1.00$                 22% 0.78$                     ($49.45) ($494.52)

Full 2% 408 2.00$                 15% 1.70$                     ($122.27) ($1,222.68)

Reduced - Express 2% 11 2.00$                 9% 1.82$                     ($1.96) ($19.62)

Full - Express 2% 26 4.00$                 4% 3.84$                     ($4.20) ($41.98)

Non-Fare Capping DiriGo users to 10-Ride Percentage Trips Old Avg Fare Transfer % New Avg Fare Revenue Change Annualized

Reduced 10% 1188 0.59$                 0.53$                     ($70.37) ($703.74)

Full 10% 2860 1.49$                 1.34$                     ($426.71) ($4,267.15)

Reduced - Express 10% 28 1.68$                 1.51$                     ($4.61) ($46.08)

Full - Express 10% 159 3.71$                 3.34$                     ($59.05) ($590.47)

Ridership Generated % of existing New Trips Transfer % Average Fare Revenue Change Annualized

Reduced 2% 517 22% 0.70$                     363.13$                         3,631.31$       

Full 2% 1048 15% 1.53$                     1,602.71$                     16,027.06$    

Reduced - Express 2% 17 9% 1.64$                     27.55$                           275.51$          

Full - Express 2% 59 4% 3.46$                     204.66$                         2,046.64$       

Monthly Net Revenue $1,459.43

Annualized Net Revenue $14,594.27

Revenue Change 0.81%

Same as existing



 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS AGENDA ITEM 6 
 

 

 
DATE  
September 28, 2023  

 
SUBJECT 
Agreement with University of Maine System 
 
PURPOSE 
Consider approval of an agreement with the University of Maine System for the provision of a 
transit pass program with University of Southern Maine and University of Maine Law School as 
well as direct operating funding for the Husky Line. 
 
BACKGROUND/ANALYSIS 
Metro entered into an agreement with the University of Southern Maine (USM) in 2018 to 
implement an unlimited access transit pass program. The pass program would be made available 
to all students, staff and faculty. The program would bolster Metro’s ridership and fare revenue 
as well as provide partial operating funding for the Husky Line. The original agreement was set-
up to charge USM a discounted fare per student boarding of 66.6% of the full one-way cash fare, 
and staff/faculty a discounted fare per boarding of 77%.   
 
Table 1 provides the revenue history associated with the agreement. Because ridership and fare 
revenue stemming from the program was unknown prior to launch, the agreement included a 
“Minimum Revenue Guarantee” to ensure Metro acquired sufficient funding to operate the 
Husky Line (in conjunction with federal and local funding support). 
 
Table 1: Pass Program Revenue History 

 

 



 
 

2 
 

In June 2023, the Board approved a standardized transit pass program that staff would be able 
to execute with most current and future partner organizations. The agreement with the 
University of Maine system follows the same basic template, but staff is seeking board approval 
for this agreement as it includes the additional provision to provide funding for the Husky Line. 
 
The primary changes associated with the new agreement include: 1) removing the “Minimum 
Revenue Guarantee” and segmenting the pass program element of the agreement from a new 
provision outlining direct funding support for the Husky Line, and 2) incorporating the University 
of Maine Law School under the same terms as USM.    
 
Summary of Key Terms: 
 

• Contract term – 5 years.  
 

• Percentage of Full One-Way Cash Fare – 66.6% for all students, staff and faculty. The 
original agreement included a provision to apply a 77% percentage discount for 
staff/faculty. This is removed.   

 

• Boardings Payment Caps – None.   
 

• Dirigo Transit Pass Type – University of Maine System ID cards are equipped to be read 
by Metro’s fare payment system.   
 

• Pass Program Billing – University of Southern Maine and U-Maine Law School will be 
billed separately for boardings associated with each school.  
 

o Total fare revenue under the contract was $131,000 in Contract Year 2022-23. 
Staff expect this to increase as a result of the Husky Line extension to the Law 
School and Eastern Waterfront, and the opening of USM’s expanded Portland 
campus.  
 

o As this agreement also allows card holders to use the City of South Portland’s Bus 
Service and Biddeford-Saco-Old Orchard Beach Transit, a small portion of these 
revenues (< 5%) will be distributed by Metro to these agencies.  

 

• Husky Line Funding – $315,000 in funding to support the Husky Line is established as fixed 
allocated amounts for both USM ($287,453) and UMLS ($27,547) starting in Contract Year 
2023-24.  
 

o For USM, Metro staff agreed to reduce the original FY 2023-24 funding request by 
$35,000 from $322,453 to $287,453 in order to align with the university’s existing 
budget. The USM amount returns to Metro’s original request in FY 2024-25 and 
escalates by 3% per year thereafter.  
 



 
 

3 
 

o The UMLS amounts are unchanged since Executive Committee review on August 
9, 2023.   

 
o In connection with planning Metro’s 2024 budget, the combined funding under 

this agreement will provide approximately 18-20% of the gross cost to operate the 
Husky Line. 

 
FISCAL IMPACT 
Depending on pass program performance, this agreement is expected to generate revenues of 
$465,000 in Contract Year 2023-24, which represents a 10% increase compared to revenues 
received under the contract in 2022-23.  As noted above, USM funding will increase by 15% in FY 
2024-25.      
 
PRIOR COMMITTEE REVIEW 
Executive Committee – August 9, 2023: Unanimous vote to recommend approval by Board of 
Directors.    
 
RECOMMENDATION 
Authorize the Executive Director to execute the agreement with the University of Maine System 
for the provision of a transit pass program with University of Southern Maine and University of 
Maine Law School as well as direct operating funding for the Husky Line. 
 
CONTACT 
Greg Jordan 
Executive Director 
207-517-3025 
gjordan@gpmetro.org 
 
ATTACHMENTS 
Attachment A: Proposed Agreement with University of Maine System 
Attachment B: Original Agreement with University of Southern Maine 

mailto:gjordan@gpmetro.org


 
 

 
 

TRANSIT PASS PROGRAM AGREEMENT 

Definitions. For purposes of this Agreement, the following terms shall have the following meanings: 

Effective Date: September 1, 2023 

Expiration Date: August 31, 2028 

Buyer: University of Maine System (“University”) or (“Buyer”) 

Buyer’s Headquarters: Portland, Maine 

Buyer’s Designee: Name:  

Title:  

Address:  

Phone:  

Email:  

Buyer’s Pass Holders: 
(e.g., employees, students, 
tenants, lessees, occupants) 

Students, staff, and faculty at the University of Southern Maine and the 
University of Maine School of Law, and other affiliated individuals 
authorized by those institutions.  

Discounted Fare 
Percentage: 

 75% - Buyer is a private or for-profit entity 

X 66.6% - Buyer is a public or nonprofit entity 

 50% - Buyer is a public or nonprofit entity; Pass Holders are minors 

Boardings Payment Caps: Cap: Boardings Payment Cap Term: 

N/A N/A 

Dirigo Transit Pass Type:  Dirigo Smart Card 

 Mobile App 

X Authorized Buyer ID 

Dirigo Smart Card Initial Supply (at no charge): N/A 

Additional/Replacement Per Diem Card Cost: N/A 
 

 
THIS TRANSIT PASS PROGRAM AGREEMENT (“Agreement”), dated as of the Effective Date, is entered into 
by and between Buyer and Greater Portland Transit District, a Maine public transit district with a principal 
place of business at 114 Valley Street in Portland, Maine (“METRO”) (collectively, the “Parties”). 

RECITALS 

WHEREAS, METRO is a participant in a regional fare payment system known as the Dirigo UMO Fare 
Payment System in partnership with certain Transit Partners, as defined hereinbelow; and 

WHEREAS, the Parties have agreed upon terms for METRO to provide free and unlimited access public 
transit passes to Buyer for distribution to Buyer’s Pass Holders for the purpose of using the public 
transportation services operated by METRO and its Transit Partners (the “Transit Pass Program”). 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the payments and mutual covenants herein contained, and for 
other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, 
the Parties agree as follows: 



 
 

 
 

1. Term. The term of this Agreement shall commence on the Effective Date and shall expire at the earlier 
of (i) the termination of this Agreement in accordance with its terms or (ii) the Expiration Date 
(the “Initial Term”), except that this Agreement shall automatically renew for a term of one year  
provided that neither Party has given the other Party a written notice of non-renewal of this 
Agreement prior to the end of the Initial Term or, as applicable, any Renewal Term (each, a “Renewal 
Term,” and collectively with  the Initial Term, the “Term”).  

2. Scope of Services.  

A. Transit Passes. METRO agrees to grant all qualified Pass Holders the privilege to ride on the 
systems of public transportation (including all existing and future public transit routes) operated 
by METRO and its Transit Partners as part of the regional transit fare payment system known as 
the Dirigo UMO Fare Payment System (the “Dirigo Transit Routes”), upon the display or electronic 
validation of a duly issued Dirigo Transit Pass, subject to the conditions of ridership privileges set 
forth in Section 2.C of this Agreement.  

For purposes of this Agreement, “Transit Partners” are the South Portland Bus Service, the 
Biddeford-Saco-Old Orchard Beach Transit System, and any other public transit agency that owns 
and operates a separate system of public transportation now or in the future and has partnered 
with METRO to participate in the Dirigo Transit Routes.  

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, all decisions regarding the Transit 
Pass Program, the Dirigo Transit Routes, transit system design and service levels (including 
without limitation route alignments and transit stop placements) are at the sole discretion of 
METRO and the Transit Partners. 

B. Transit Program Eligibility. Pass Holders’ eligibility for inclusion in the Transit Pass Program under 
this Agreement shall be determined by Buyer in its sole discretion. 

C. Conditions of Ridership Privileges. Pass Holders shall have the privilege of riding the Dirigo Transit 
Routes during service hours upon the display or electronic validation of a duly issued Dirigo Transit 
Pass. Pass Holders shall at all times be required to observe all rules and regulations applicable 
generally to passengers of the Dirigo Transit Routes. METRO or a Transit Partner may revoke a 
Pass Holder’s privilege of ridership at any time, as METRO or the Transit Partner deems necessary 
or appropriate in its sole discretion. Upon request and to the extent allowed by applicable law, 
METRO shall provide or shall request its Transit Partners to provide after-the-fact written notice 
to Buyer for any such revocation of ridership privileges. 

3. Payment.  

A. Discounted Fare. Buyer agrees to pay METRO a Pass Holder per-boarding fare equal to the 
Discounted Fare Percentage of METRO’s or the Transit Partner’s full one-way cash fare charged 
to the general public in effect at the time of boarding (“Discounted Fare”). Refer to Exhibit A for 
the current METRO and Transit Partner fare pricing structure, which may be adjusted by METRO 
or its Transit Partners at any time during the Term in their sole discretion. Changes made to Exhibit 
A by METRO or its Transit Partners will take effect under this agreement in connection with the 
Buyer’s subsequent fiscal year, provided that changes are communicated no later than January 
31.  

The Discounted Fare shall be charged each time a Pass Holder boards a Dirigo Transit Route 
vehicle (without regard to the place of boarding, the place of disembarkation, or the distance 



 
 

 
 

traveled) until such time that any applicable Boardings Payment Caps are reached; thereafter, 
METRO will continue to provide Pass Holders with free and unlimited access to the Dirigo Transit 
Routes for the remainder of the Boardings Payment Cap Term, subject to the provisions of Section 
2. 

B. Dirigo Transit Passes. Buyer shall select the Type of Dirigo Transit Passes from those identified in 
the Definitions section, above. A Buyer ID may be used as a Dirigo Transit Pass only with METRO’s 
prior authorization. If the Dirigo Transit Pass Type is a Dirigo Smart Card, METRO will provide Buyer 
with the Initial Supply of Dirigo Smart Cards at no charge upon Buyer’s request. METRO will supply 
additional or replacement Dirigo Smart Cards to Buyer upon its request at the 
Additional/Replacement Per Diem Card Cost.  

C. Invoices. METRO shall invoice Buyer monthly in arrears for any additional or replacement Dirigo 
Smart Cards and actual Pass Holder boardings, up to any applicable Boardings Payment Cap, and 
Buyer shall pay all undisputed invoices, or portions thereof, within thirty (30) days after the date 
of the invoice. METRO will issue separate invoices to University of Southern Maine and University 
of Maine Law School.  In the event there is a discrepancy with the invoice, payment terms shall 
be effective starting on the date the discrepancy is resolved, for only that portion of the invoice 
that is disputed.  Invoices must include a purchase order number. 

D. Revenue Distribution. METRO will be responsible for distributing to the Transit Partners any 
revenue associated with Pass Holder boardings that occur on Transit Partner systems. 

4.  Termination; Default. 

A.  Default by METRO. In the event of any material breach of the terms of this Agreement by METRO, 
Buyer agrees to notify METRO in detail in writing of such breach and to give METRO a reasonable 
time, not to exceed sixty (60) days or such reasonable longer period as the circumstances may 
require if METRO is diligently pursuing a cure, to cure the breach to Buyer’s reasonable 
satisfaction, before taking any steps to terminate this Agreement. If METRO fails or refuses to 
cure any breach as aforesaid, Buyer may terminate this Agreement upon seven (7) days’ written 
notice to METRO in writing without further liability to METRO. 

B.  Default by Buyer. In the event of any failure by Buyer to pay sums due hereunder when they are 
due, in addition to all other remedies available to it, METRO may notify Buyer in writing of such 
non-payment and if such non-payment is not cured by payment in full of all sums due within thirty 
(30) days, may thereupon terminate this Agreement by giving Buyer written notice of termination, 
without further liability to Buyer hereunder. In the event of any material breach of the terms of 
this Agreement by Buyer other than the failure to pay money, METRO agrees to notify Buyer in 
detail in writing of such breach and to give Buyer a reasonable time, not to exceed sixty (60) days 
or such reasonable longer period as the circumstances may require if Buyer is diligently pursuing 
a cure, to cure the default to METRO’s reasonable satisfaction, before taking any steps to 
terminate this Agreement. If Buyer fails or refuses to cure any breach as aforesaid, METRO may 
terminate this Agreement upon seven (7) days’ written notice to Buyer in writing without further 
liability to Buyer.  

C.  Termination Without Cause. Either Party may terminate this Agreement without cause, including 
for its convenience, providing that the terminating Party must provide at least ninety (90) days’ 
written notice prior to the effective date of termination. Buyer shall compensate METRO for 



 
 

 
 

ridership services in accordance with Section 3 (“Payment”) of this Agreement up to and including 
the date of termination. 

D.  Compensation. In the event of termination, METRO shall forthwith disable Buyer’s Pass Holder 
transit passes and ridership privileges. Buyer shall compensate METRO for ridership services in 
accordance with Section 3 (“Payment”) of this Agreement up to and including the date of 
termination.  

5.  Amendment; Binding Effect. Neither this Agreement nor any term or provision hereof may be 
changed, waived, discharged, or terminated orally or in any manner other than by a written 
instrument signed by each of the Parties. Each Party represents and warrants to the other that it has 
the requisite power and authority to enter into and perform this Agreement, that it has been duly 
authorized thereunto, and that this Agreement is binding and enforceable according to its terms. This 
Agreement shall insure to the benefit of and be binding on the respective Parties and their respective 
successors and assigns. 

6.  Administration of Agreement. The Parties agree to work collaboratively in good faith to achieve the 
purposes of this Agreement and to attempt to informally address any problems or disagreements that 
arise. Buyer (through its Designee) and METRO (through its Chief Transportation Officer) shall meet 
annually to review the implementation of this Agreement, to discuss any previously unanticipated 
issues, to attempt to resolve any problems, and to attempt in good faith to negotiate amendments to 
this Agreement if needed to ensure that the Agreement will serve the mutual interests of the Parties. 
Any amendment to this Agreement must comply with Section 5 (“Amendment, Binding Effect”) of this 
Agreement. The Parties shall each designate a person responsible for day-to-day communication 
concerning the administration of this Agreement.  

7. Insurance. During the term of this Agreement, METRO shall maintain insurance, including general 
liability, motor vehicle liability, and workers’ compensation insurance, in amounts equal to or greater 
than the coverage limit noted in the table directly below. Upon request by Buyer, METRO shall provide 
proof of such insurance to Buyer and shall name Buyer an additional insured on its policies.    

# Insurance Type Coverage Limit 

1 Commercial General Liability, including 
Product’s and Completed Operations   
 
(Written on an Occurrence-based form)  
(Bodily Injury and Property Damage) 

$1,000,000 per occurrence or more 

2 Vehicle Liability 
(Including Hired & Non-Owned) 
(Bodily Injury and Property Damage) 

$1,000,000 per occurrence or more 

3 Workers Compensation 
(In Compliance with Maine and Federal Law) 

Required for all personnel 

  

Certificates of Insurance for all of the above insurance shall be filed with: 

University of Maine System 

Risk Manager 

Robinson Hall 

46 University Drive 

Augusta, Maine 04330 



 
 

 
 

8.  Indemnification. METRO, its successors and assigns, hereby agrees to indemnify and hold harmless 
Buyer, its successors and assigns, from any claim, costs, liability and expense to the extent arising from 
or attributable to any acts or omissions of the servants or employees of METRO in performing its 
obligations pursuant to this Agreement. Nothing herein is intended, nor shall it be deemed, to expand 
or extend either Party’s liability, or to waive any immunity, or any defenses or limitations of liability, 
to which it is entitled under the Maine Tort Claims Act, 14 M.R.S.A. § 8101 et seq. and other applicable 
law, and nothing in this Agreement shall be interpreted or operate in any practical effect to waive any 
such defenses, immunities, or limitations of liability with respect to claims by third parties. The 
provisions of this Section 8 (“Indemnification”) shall survive the termination or expiration of this 
Agreement. 

9. Dispute Resolution. The Parties will make good faith efforts to first resolve informally and internally 
any legal controversy or claim (“Dispute”) under this Agreement by escalating it to higher levels of 
management. If for any reason the Dispute is not informally resolved within thirty (30) days after 
delivery of written notice of the Dispute by the aggrieved Party to the other Party, any Party may 
serve on the other Party a written request for non-binding mediation of the Dispute. The mediation 
shall be conducted in Portland, Maine by one mediator mutually agreeable to the Parties, shall not 
exceed one full day or two half days in length, and shall be completed within thirty (30) days from the 
date of receipt of notice of a request for mediation by the last Party to receive notice. In the event 
that the Parties are unable to agree on a mediator within ten (10) days, or to resolve the dispute 
through mediation within thirty (30) days, the Parties reserve the right to file a civil action in a court 
of competent jurisdiction located in Cumberland County, governed by and construed in accordance 
with the laws of the State of Maine. This dispute resolution mechanism shall be binding upon the 
successors, assigns, foreclosing mortgagee, and any trustee or receiver of the Parties.  

A Party may seek a preliminary injunction or other preliminary judicial relief if in its judgment such 
action is necessary to avoid irreparable damage. Despite any such action, the Parties will continue to 
participate in good faith in the procedures set forth in this Section 9 (“Dispute Resolution”). All 
applicable statutes of limitation will be tolled during the pendency of any Dispute Resolution 
hereunder, and the Parties agree to take such action, if any, required to effectuate such tolling. 

The duties and obligations imposed by this Agreement and the rights and remedies available 
thereunder shall be in addition to and not a limitation of any duties, obligations, rights, and remedies 
otherwise imposed or available by law. No action or failure to act by METRO or Buyer shall constitute 
a waiver of any right or duty afforded any of them under this Agreement, nor shall any such action or 
failure to act constitute an approval of or acquiescence in any breach thereunder, except as may be 
specifically agreed in writing. 

10. Notice. Any notice that is required for purposes of this Agreement must be given in writing and is 
effective when received in person by the individual designated to receive notice, or after being mailed, 
post paid, by certified mail, to the individual designated to receive notice according to this Section 10 
(“Notice”). The individual designated to receive notice for each Party is as follows: 

METRO 
Executive Director 
Greater Portland Transit District 
114 Valley Street 
Portland, ME 04102 
(207) 517-3025 
gjordan@gpmetro.org 



 
 

 
 

Buyer:  Buyer’s Designee, as identified in the Definitions section, above. 

11. Governing Law; Other. This Agreement has been delivered and is intended to be performed in the 
State of Maine and shall be construed and enforced in accordance with the laws of Maine without 
regard to its conflict of laws provisions. In the event that any provision of this Agreement shall be held 
to be invalid, the other provisions hereof shall remain in full force and effect. This Agreement may be 
executed electronically and in several counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, but all 
of which together shall constitute one and the same instrument. 

12.  Non-Discrimination. At no time shall either Party discriminate against anyone on the grounds of race, 
color, religion, sex, sexual orientation, including transgender status or gender expression, national 
origin or citizenship status, age, disability, genetic information or veteran status. METRO agrees that 
it shall provide reasonable accommodations to individuals with disabilities in accordance with 
applicable laws. 

13. Confidentiality; Trademarks. The Parties agree to implement and maintain reasonable safeguards to 
protect the security and confidentiality of Pass Holders’ personally identifiable records and 
information, protect against anticipated threats to the security or integrity of such records and 
information, and protect against unauthorized access to, or use of, such records and information. 
METRO shall use such records and information only for the purposes for which the disclosure to 
METRO was made, and shall not use or disclose such records or information except as permitted or 
required by this Agreement or as required by law or a valid order of the court. 

 Neither Party shall use the other Party's name, symbols, trademarks, or service marks in external 
advertising, marketing, or promotional materials without the prior written consent of the other Party; 
provided that Buyer may use METRO’s name in literature and other media distributed to Pass Holders 
and other public information in promoting the ridership of METRO to Pass Holders. Any use by a Party, 
without the approval of the other Party, of the name, symbols, trademarks or service marks of such 
other Party shall cease immediately upon the earlier written notice of such other party or termination 
of this Agreement. 

14. Independence. For the purposes of this Agreement, METRO is an independent contractor of Buyer, 
not a partner, agent, or joint venture of Buyer and neither Party shall hold itself out contrary to these 
terms by advertising or otherwise, nor shall either Party be bound by any representation, act, or 
omission whatsoever of the other Party. 

15. No Assignment. This Agreement, or any part thereof, may not be assigned, transferred, or 
subcontracted by either Party without the prior written consent of the other Party. 

16. Compliance with Applicable Law. In performing under this Agreement, METRO shall comply with all 
applicable Federal, State and local laws, regulations, and ordinances. METRO shall secure at its 
expense all licenses and permits required for performing under this Agreement. 

17. Additional Terms and Conditions. The additional terms and conditions set forth in Exhibit B, if any, 
are attached hereto and made a part hereof as if fully set forth herein. 

[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS]  



 
 

 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have caused this TRANSIT PASS PROGRAM AGREEMENT to be executed 
by their respective undersigned authorized officer as of _____________________________, 20___. 

 BUYER 
 
 
 

 By:   

  Name:  
  Title: 
 
 
 
 GREATER PORTLAND TRANSIT DISTRICT (METRO) 

 
 
 

 By:   

  Greg Jordan 
  Executive Director 



 
 

 
 

 

TRANSIT PASS PROGRAM AGREEMENT 
EXHIBIT A 

 
Current Board Adopted Fare Pricing Structure 

& 
Existing Transit Routes 

 
 

 LOCAL EXPRESS ZOOM 

Full One-way Cash Fare $2.00 $4.00 $5.00 

    

Transit Routes    

Metro Route 1 X   

Metro Route 2 X   

Metro Route 3 X   

Metro Route 4 X   

Metro Route 5 X   

Metro Route 7 X   

Metro Route 8 X   

Metro Route 9 X   

Metro BREEZ  X  

Metro Husky Line X   

BSOOB Route 50 (Orange) X   

BSOOB Route 51 (Black) X   

BSOOB Route 52 (White) X   

BSOOB Route 60 (Green) X   

BSOOB Zoom (Purple)   X 

South Portland Route 21 X   

South Portland Route 24A X   

South Portland Route 24B X   

 
 
  



 
 

 
 

TRANSIT PASS PROGRAM AGREEMENT 
EXHIBIT B 

 
Additional Terms  

 
B-1.  Non-Appropriation (applicable to Buyer if Buyer is a governmental or quasi-governmental entity). 

Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, if Buyer is, at any time during the Term, not 
appropriated sufficient funds to pay for the services to be performed under this Agreement or if 
funds are de-appropriated, then this Agreement shall automatically terminate on the last day of the 
fiscal period for which appropriations were received, without penalty or expense to Buyer, except 
as to the payments or portions thereof for which funds have been appropriated. All obligations of 
Buyer accruing prior to such automatic termination shall survive any such termination. For purposes 
of this Section, “non-appropriation” or “de-appropriation” means the failure of the governing body 
of Buyer to appropriate funds for the payment of Buyer’s obligations under this Agreement in 
accordance with applicable law and procedures. 

 
B-2. Husky Line. As part of the Transit Pass Program, METRO agrees to provide at least one public transit 

route that connects Buyer’s University of Southern Maine (“USM”) campuses located in Gorham 
and Portland, Maine, and Buyer’s University of Maine School of Law (“Maine Law”) campus located 
at 300 Fore Street in Portland, Maine (collectively the “Husky Line”), subject to the agreements and 
understandings set forth in this Agreement and the following additional provisions: 

 
A. Route Type; Service Levels. Buyer understands and acknowledges that the Husky Line will be 

operated as an arterial Bus Rapid Transit (BRT) route, will be open to the general public, and 
will make a limited number of stops between Buyer’s Gorham and Portland campuses. Buyer 
agrees that the establishment, modification, and termination of any public transit routes and 
their associated service levels (defined as operating days, operating hours, headways and bus 
stops), including on the Husky Line, are at the sole discretion of METRO; provided, however, 
that METRO agrees to: 

 
i. Consult with Buyer’s representatives prior to establishing new public transit routes that may 

serve Buyer’s campuses or modifying service levels on the Husky Line in order to solicit input 
regarding service level needs; 

 
ii. Operate the Husky Line to provide a weekday service to Buyer’s campuses every 30 minutes 

between 6:00 a.m. – 11:00 p.m. or as ridership demand warrants; 
 
iii. Operate the Husky Line to provide Saturday service to Buyer’s campuses at least every 60 

minutes between 7:00 a.m. – 11:00 p.m. or as ridership demand warrants; 
 
iv. Operate the Husky Line to provide Sunday servicer to Buyer’s campuses at least every 60 

minutes between 8:00 a.m. – 8:00 p.m. or as ridership demand warrants; 
 
v. Provide Wi-Fi capabilities on the Husky Line; provided, however, that METRO shall not be 

responsible for Wi-Fi service or connectivity issues outside of its control; and 
 



 
 

 
 

vi. Where practicable, provide to Buyer at least 30 calendar days’ notice prior to any route or 
schedule change affecting the Husky Line; where such notice is impracticable, METRO shall 
provide such notice as soon as reasonably practicable.  

 
B-3. Husky Line Support Payment. In addition to Buyer’s payment obligations set forth in Section 3, 

Buyer agrees to pay METRO the following annual payment to offset a portion of METRO’s costs to 
operate the Husky Line (the “USM Husky Line Support Payment” and the “Maine Law Husky Line 
Support Payment,” collectively the “Husky Line Support Payment”): 

 

Year 
USM Husky Line  

Support Payment 
Maine Law Husky Line  

Support Payment  

09/01/2023 – 08/31/2024 $287,453 $27,547 

09/01/2024 – 08/31/2025 $332,127 $28,373 

09/01/2025 – 08/31/2026 $342,090 $29,225 

09/01/2026 – 08/31/2027 $352,353 $30,101 

09/01/2027 – 08/31/2028 $362,924 $31,004 

 
METRO shall separately invoice Buyer monthly in arrears for the USM Husky Line Support Payment 
and the Maine Law Husky Line Support Payment. 

 
 































 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS AGENDA ITEM 7 
 

 

 
DATE  
September 28, 2023 

 
SUBJECT 
Unionization of Select Job Classifications 
 
PURPOSE 
Consider approval of proposed tentative agreements with ATU Local 714 for the incorporation of 
three (3) job classes (comprising 7 employees) into the existing Collective Bargaining Agreement. 
The board may elect to discuss this item in executive session pursuant to 1 MRSA Section 405 (6) 
(D). Any action must be taken in public session. 
 
BACKGROUND/ANALYSIS 
In September of 2022 the business agent for ATU 714 notified Metro’s Executive Director that 
the union had collected a majority share of signed union membership cards for the customer 
service, dispatcher and shuttle driver positions at Metro to unionize these job classifications. 
 
The positions proposed to be added to the bargaining unit include: 
 
Dispatchers – 4 FTEs 
Customer Service – 2 FTEs 
Shuttle Driver – 1 FTE 
 
Staff consulted with Metro’s labor attorney and was advised that the unionization was legitimate 
and although the agency has the right to protest the unionization of these classifications it was 
unlikely that the Maine Labor Relations Board would overturn the unionization.  
 
Metro formally acknowledged the union’s right to represent these employees and started 
negotiating their inclusion into the CBA in the Fall of 2022. The first negotiations were focused 
primarily on addressing the transition of the non-union employees to union status. These items 
included: 
 

• PTO/Vacation transition 

• Schedule differences between non-union and union employees 

• Rules governing promotional opportunities 

• Vacation scheduling 

• Holiday pay 

• Pension vesting 
 

 



 
 

2 
 

In addition to the terms of the transition, the union proposed that the new union employees 
receive a wage increase. In exchange for the wage increase the union offered to add provisions 
to the CBA that allow for “shared work”. These “shared work” sections allow non-union staff to 
work in the Dispatch and Customer Service Departments in a limited capacity.  
 
Additionally, in exchange for a larger wage increase for the Shuttle Driver position it was agreed 
that the position would be retitled “Non-CDL Rate”. This is intended to be a rate that could be 
used in the future for an operator performing micro-transit work. However, since this agreement 
was only ratified by the new bargaining unit employees they could not agree to terms for micro-
transit work which will need to be agreed by the entire union body. 
 
The wage progression for each classification is listed in Table 1. The spread between steps is 3% 
which matches the current non-union plan. The step increases (91%, 94%, 97%) align with the 
existing wage progression of Maintenance Department employees. Top rate for dispatchers is set 
at 13.5% above top operator’s rate.  
 
Table 1 shows the new salary ranges for each classification: 
 

Table 1 

 Dispatcher Customer Service Shuttle (Non-CDL) 
0 – 12 Months  
91% of top rate 

$31.62 $21.39 $20.48 

13-24 Months 
94% of top rate 

$32.67 $22.09 $21.15 

25-36 Months 
97% of top rate 

$33.71 $22.80 $21.83 

Over 36 Months 
Top rate 

$34.75 $23.50 $22.50 

 
 
Table 2 contains the top and bottom of Metro’s current non-union salary plan for each 
classification: 
 

Table 2 

Position Starting Top 
Dispatcher $27.98 $37.60 

Customer Service Rep 1 $20.55 $27.62 

Customer Service Rep 2 $22.04 $29.61 

Shuttle Driver  $17.58 $23.63 

 
 
The exact rate each employee was placed at was negotiated individually based on a variety of 
factors. Table 3 below shows the seven positions being added to the CBA, their current rate, their 
new rate under the terms of the tentative agreement as well as the percent change. 
  



 
 

3 
 

  
Table 3 

Position Current New Percent Change 
Dispatcher 1  $32.43 $34.75 7.1% 

Dispatcher 2 $32.43 $34.75 7.1% 

Dispatcher 3 $31.49 $33.71 7.1% 

Dispatcher 4 $31.49 $33.71 7.1% 

Customer Service Rep 1 $22.70 $23.50 3.5% 

Customer Service Rep 2 $21.80 $22.80 4.6% 

Shuttle Driver  $18.65 $21.83 17.0% 

  
The terms of the tentative agreement were agreed to be retro-active to July 30, 2023 to match 
with when the agreement was reached. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
The estimated cost of the changes in wage rates is $15,484 for the remainder of 2023.  
 
PRIOR COMMITTEE REVIEW 
Executive Committee – November 9, 2022: For information 
Executive Committee – August 9, 2023: Unanimous vote to recommend approval by Board of 
Directors.   
 
RECOMMENDATION 
Authorize the Board President to execute the agreement with ATU Local 714 for the 
incorporation of three (3) job classes (comprising 7 employees) into the existing Collective 
Bargaining Agreement.  
 
CONTACT 
Glenn Fenton 
Chief Transportation Officer 
207-517-3029 
gfenton@gpmetro.org 
 
ATTACHMENTS 
Attachment A: Tentative Agreement July, 27, 2023 

mailto:gfenton@gpmetro.org


 1 

ATU Local 714 
and 

METRO 
Tentative Agreement 

July 27, 2023 
 

 
 
 

Dispatcher 13.5% Above 
Top Operator 

0 – 12 Months 
91% of top rate 

$31.62 

13-24 Months 
94% of top rate 

$32.67 

25-36 Months 
97% of top rate 

$33.71 

Over 36 Months 
Top rate 

$34.75 

 
Customer 
Service Reps 

 

0 – 12 Months 
91% of top rate 

$21.39 

13-24 Months 
94% of top rate 

$22.09 

25-36 Months 
97% of top rate 

$22.80 

Over 36 Months 
Top rate 

$23.50 

 
Shuttle Driver 
Non-CDL Rate 

 

0 – 12 Months 
91% of top rate 

$20.48 

13-24 Months 
94% of top rate 

$21.15 

25-36 Months 
97% of top rate 

$21.83 

Over 36 Months 
Top rate 

$22.50 



 2 

 
 
 
 
 
Future openings for Dispatcher shall provide preference hiring for bargaining unit members as 
follows; 
Any bargaining unit member who applies for and meets, the minimum qualifying standards for 
the Dispatcher position, as established by the Agency, shall be given hiring preference over all 
outside applicants. 
 
Whenever an incumbent bargaining unit member meets the minimum qualifying standards for 
a vacant position, they shall be awarded the position.   
 
In the event more than one (1) incumbent bargaining unit member applies for, and meets the 
minimum qualifications for the position, as established by the Agency, seniority shall prevail in 
the determination of awarding the position. 
 
Whenever an incumbent bargaining unit member enters the Dispatcher classification, the wage 
rate determination shall be based on 5% above their current rate, rounded up to the next step 
in the established Dispatcher progression.  Such progression shall then continue annually, from 
the date of entry into the Dispatcher classification, until top rate is achieved. 
 
All ATU classifications listed above shall be paid retroactively from the full pay period 
commencing July 30, 2023. 
 
The parties understand that a conversion regarding “Pension” and “PTO” (paid time off) shall 
occur without harm, or any enrichment, where necessary. 
 
Non-bargaining unit employees may cover dispatch responsibilities provided that no qualified 
bargaining unit employees are available. This type of coverage shall not be allowed for whole 
shifts.  
 
Non-bargaining unit employees may cover customer service shifts provided that both customer 
service positions are filled, and no customer service representatives are interested in covering 
the additional hours. 
 
No later than November 30th of each year a schedule of vacations will be posted and bid for the 
following year. There shall be a minimum of one (1) vacation slot per week per department for 
customer service and dispatch.  
 
Dispatchers shall bid their shifts a minimum of four times per year. If the dispatcher schedule is 
changed a bid will be required in advance of any change. 
 



 3 

GPTD has one customer service employee working 30 hours per week. This employee currently 
receives insurance benefits at the same rate as a full-time employee. Management and the 
Union agree to keep this employee contributing for benefits at the same amount as full-time 
employees. Should the Union and Management negotiate additional positions that work less 
than 40 hours per week this agreement shall not set precedent and Management reserves the 
right to negotiate pro-rated benefits. 
 
Employees joining the union shall begin vesting per section 4.2 of the Collective Bargaining 
Agreement with credit for years of service with the agency as non-union employees. Balances in 
existing retirement accounts shall follow the employee as allowed by the plan documents. 
 
Weekly schedules for dispatchers shall consist of four 10-hour shifts with three regularly 
scheduled days off. Management shall have the right to change the regularly scheduled days off 
of one dispatch shift weekly to accommodate coverage for absences and other needs of the 
agency. The employee on this schedule shall be provided 7 days’ notice of Management’s 
intention to change his/her shift. This shift will be identified at the time of bidding as a “floater” 
schedule. 
 
Pay for holidays for dispatchers shall be 8 hours holiday pay. On holidays which Metro does not 
operate service, dispatchers will receive 10 hours holiday pay if it is their regularly scheduled 
workday. 
 
Holiday pay for customer service staff shall match their regularly scheduled hours for the day. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
________________________  ______  ________________________  ______ 
For METRO    Date  For ATU Local 714   Date 
 
  



 4 

Side Agreement Accompanying Tentative Agreements Dated July 27, 2023 
 
Effective July 30, 2023 the rates for the following employees shall be: 
 
Jamie Frager - $34.75/hr 
Joseph Ivey - $34.75/hr 
Raymond Gauvin - $33.71/hr 
Thierry Kayumba Bin - $33.71/hr 
Duane Sjoberg - $22.80/hr 
Danielle Walker - $23.50/hr 
Cathy Leo - $21.83/hr 
 
Employees in progression shall receive their next step increase on 7/30/24.  
 
Non-Union employees transitioning to a union position will receive PTO/Vacation frontloaded, aligning 
with the employee's years of service to the agency. Time frontloaded will be prorated based on the 
effective date of the transition, and will follow the terms set forth in section 27 of the Collective 
Bargaining Agreement. PTO time earned as a non-union employee will not be carried over into the union 
position and removed from the employee's bank. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
For METRO    Date  For ATU Local 714   Date 
 



 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS AGENDA ITEM 8 
 

 

 
DATE  
September 28, 2023 

 
SUBJECT 
Strategic Planning Process: Statements of Agency Mission, Vision and Values 
 
PURPOSE 
Adopt proposed statements of agency mission, vision and values.  
 
BACKGROUND/ANALYSIS 
Metro commenced a strategic planning process in April 2023. A kick-off meeting included 
presentations to the board on the agency’s performance implementing the previous strategic 
plan, national trends in public transportation, recent GPCOG planning studies and regional 
priorities, and survey research on rider and non-rider opinions.  
 
The second step in the process is to craft new statements of mission, vision and values which will 
serve as the foundation for subsequent development of short-long range goals and objectives, 
as well as general agency decision-making.  
 
In June 2023, GPCOG Executive Director, Kristina Egan, facilitated a discussion with the board and 
senior staff with the aim of developing the ideas and themes which could be woven into a set of 
grounding statements. A follow-up board workshop planned for August 24 was converted to an 
informal focus group due to the absence of a quorum.  
 
Based on this work, and with input from many Metro employees at all levels of the agency, staff 
is presenting proposed final statements on the opposite page.    
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
None.  
 
PRIOR BOARD/COMMITTEE REVIEW 
Board of Directors – April 27 staff presentations 
Board of Directors – June 22 workshop 
Informal Board Member Focus Group – August 24 workshop 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
Adopt the proposed statement of mission, vision and values.  
 
 

 



 
 

2 
 

CONTACT 
Greg Jordan 
Executive Director 
207-517-3025 
gjordan@gpmetro.org 
 
ATTACHMENTS 
Attachment A: Slide Deck from August 24 Board Member Focus Group 
 
 

 
 

OUR MISSION IS TO:  

Provide a public transportation experience that is frequent, fast, safe, and simple.  

 

OUR VISION FOR THE FUTURE IS TO… 

Be the mobility option of choice that connects people to each other and all the places 
that make for a full life;  

Serve as a foundation for regional prosperity, growing communities, and a healthy 
environment.   

 

OUR CORE VALUES ARE: 

• Safety – our highest priority is the safety of our riders, employees, and the public. 

• Service – we serve our riders and communities; we support our employees; we act in 
the public interest. 

• Simplicity – we do the hard work to make transit easy for all. 

• Sustainability – We commit to responsible and equitable practices today to ensure a 
sustainable and better future.  

• Innovation – with imagination and determination we never stop building a better 
public transportation experience for riders. 

 



9/26/2023

1

GREATER PORTLAND METRO 
Board of Directors Workshop 

August 24, 2023

Strategic Planning Process



9/26/2023

2

Today’s Outcome

The group finalizes METRO’s vision, 
mission and values.

Your Input in June

METRO:

 Has a prime responsibility to serve our community’s most vulnerable residents AND has 

aspirations to better compete with the car, particularly in more urban geographic areas

 Aspires to a future where it serves current riders even better and grows the number of 

people it serves

 Is about choice and freedom, as well as offering public transportation that is affordable, 

reliable, timely, and safe

 Is about transportation, not just public transit

 Is about more than transportation. It’s about improving people’s lives and building 

stronger communities.



9/26/2023

3

What’s a VISION?

• Guiding star for organization 

• The outcome you seek

• Signals where organization is heading

• Inspires, aspires

• Memorable & concise

Your Input on Vision

 Be aspirational

 Highlight METRO’s positive impact on people 
and on community

 Speak to how we improve equity, economy, 
and environment, not just mobility

 Does not need to reference to METRO’s 
geographic service area. 

 “Freedom”

 “Choice”

 “Connecting and building thriving 

communities”

 “World-class”

 “Improving people’s lives”



9/26/2023

4

Draft Vision

A region where people choose to walk, bike and 

use public transportation because it’s the best 

way to get around.

What’s a MISSION?

What’s a mission?

• Agency’s reason for being 

• What it does here and now

What’s makes a good mission?

• Communicates what you do

• Emotionally resonant

• Memorable & concise



9/26/2023

5

Your Input on Mission

• Connect people

• Move people safely, quickly, 

reliably

• For all people

• Improve people’s lives and 

neighborhoods

Draft Mission

Connecting people to 
life by making public 
transportation easy.



9/26/2023

6

What are VALUES?

Values guide how you do your work

• Shapes how your team thinks and 

behaves

• Provides framework for making 

decisions

What makes for a good set of values?

• Universal across entire organization

• Clear and simple

• Memorable

• Limited in number  

Your Input on Values

Top four:

• Sustainability

• Accessibility

• Community

• Innovation



9/26/2023

7

Draft Values

Safety is our highest priority – all riders to all 
points safe and sound.

We operate with excellence – every rider 
deserves the best.

Keep it simple – complexity is the enemy of 
ridership.

Always be innovating; always be improving –
our communities and planet are counting on us.

We’re in public service – we act with integrity, 
accountability and in the public interest.

Collaborate – we achieve more when we work 
together.

Full Draft

Safety is our highest priority – all riders to all points safe and 
sound.

We operate with excellence – every rider deserves the best.

Keep it simple – complexity is the enemy of ridership.

Always be innovating; always be improving – our communities 
and planet are counting on us.

We’re in public service – we act with integrity, accountability 
and in the public interest.

Collaborate – we achieve more when we work together.

We take care of each other – the bedrock of success lies in the 
well-being of our employees.

Vision

A region where people choose to 
walk, bike and use public 
transportation because it’s the best 
way to get around

Mission

Connecting people to life by making 

public transportation easy.

Values


	Board Agenda_09-28-2023
	Item 3-Minutes_06-22-2023
	Item 5 - Fare Policy Change
	Item 5 - Attachment A
	Item 6 - UM Transit Agreement
	Item 6 - Attachment A
	Item 6 - Attachment B
	Item 7 - Unionization of Job Classifications
	Item 7 - Attachment A
	Item 8 - Mission-Vision-Values Statements
	Item 8 - Attachment A



